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Reference:

Letter from R. C. Daley (U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission) to B. C. Hanson
(Exelon Generation Company, LLC), "Byron Station, Units 1 and 2 - Evaluation of
Changes, Tests, and Experiments Baseline Inspection Report 05000454/2017009,
05000455/2017009," dated June 29, 2017

In Reference 1, the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) identified a traditional
enforcement Severity Level IV violation with an associated finding during the performance of the
Evaluation of Changes, Tests, and Experiments inspection at Byron Station (Byron), which
concluded June 1, 2017. The violation is associated with Byron's failure to provide a 10 CFR
50.59 written evaluation which provided the basis for the determination that a change to the
surveillance frequencies of the emergency diesel generators described in the Updated Final
Safety Analysis Report (UFSAR) did not require a license amendment.
By issuing this violation, the NRC's position is that a surveillance frequency change made in
accordance with the requirements of the Technical Specification (TS) Surveillance Frequency
Control Program also requires a subsequent 10 CFR 50.59 evaluation to make corresponding
updates to the UFSAR. This position is contrary to the NRC Principles of Good Regulation as it
calls for a redundant licensee evaluation of the same change and is an inconsistent application of
NRC regulations.
The attachment to this letter provides the Exelon Generation Company, LLC (EGC) response and
basis for the denial of the violation and finding issued to Byron in the referenced letter (NCV
050004542017009-01;050004552017009-01, Failure to Perform 10 CFR 50.59 Evaluation for
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UFSAR Change). Due to the generic NRC policy implications of this denial, EGC requests that
NRC review of this matter include the Office of Nuclear Reactor Regulation and the Office of
General Counsel.
There are no regulatory commitments made within this letter. If you have any questions
concerning this letter, please contact Mr. Douglas Spitzer, Regulatory Assurance Manager, at
(815) 406-2800.

Respectfully,

Mark Kanavos
Site Vice President
Byron Station

Attachment:

cc:

Basis for Denial of NCV 050004542017009-01;050004552017009-01, Failure to
Perform 10 CFR 50.59 Evaluation for UFSAR Change

NRC Regional Administrator, Region III
NRC Director, Office of Enforcement
NRC Senior Resident Inspection — Byron Station
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050004542017009-01;050004552017009-01,
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CFR 50.59 Evaluation for UFSAR Change

In the Reference 1 inspection report, the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) issued a
Severity Level IV, Non-Cited Violation of 10 CFR 50.59, "Changes, tests, and experiments,"
Section (d)(1) and an associated finding of very low safety significance (Green) to Byron Station
(Byron) for failure to provide a written evaluation which provided the basis for the determination
that a change did not require a license amendment. Specifically, Reference 1 stated that Byron
failed to provide a basis for why a change to the surveillance frequency of the emergency diesel
generators described in the Updated Final Safety Analysis Report (UFSAR) did not require prior
NRC approval.
Exelon Generation Company, LLC (EGC) has reviewed the details of the violation provided in
Reference 1, and disagrees with the NBC's assessment and conclusions of this issue. EGC
has performed a detailed review of the applicable NRC regulations and NRC-endorsed industry
guidance related to both 10 CFR 50.59 and the Technical Specification required Surveillance
Frequency Control Program (SFCP). EGC concludes that a 10 CFR 50.59(d)(1) evaluation is
not required because the associated change to the UFSAR satisfies 10 CFR 50.59(c)(4). The
basis and justification for EGC's position is provided below.
Background

In 2014, Byron extended the frequency for performance of the Diesel Generator and Integrated
Safeguards Loss of Offsite Power/ Engineered Safety Feature surveillance test from 18 months
to 18 months on a Staggered Test Basis (documented in SFCP evaluation BY-13-003). This
surveillance test interval (STI) change was evaluated and controlled in accordance with
Technical Specification (TS) 5.5.19, "Surveillance Frequency Control Program." This TS
requires Byron to control and change specified TS Surveillance Requirements in accordance
with NRC-approved Nuclear Energy Institute (NEI) 04-10, Revision 1, "Risk-Informed Method for
Control of Surveillance Frequencies." The SFCP evaluation reviewed and considered requisite
industry codes and standards for diesel generator testing described in the UFSAR.
Following approval of the SFCP extension of the diesel generator TS STI, Byron developed a
UFSAR change package to clarify in the UFSAR that the diesel generator STI was based on the
SFCP process and evaluation, not the Regulatory Guide (RG) and Institute of Electrical and
Electronics Engineers (IEEE) standard discussed in the UFSAR. The intent of the UFSAR
change package was to update the UFSAR discussion on how the surveillance frequency was
controlled to avoid confusion and ensure consistency in the licensing basis. The UFSAR
change package was not intended to evaluate the diesel generator frequency change itself as
that change was previously evaluated and approved per the TS 5.5.19 SFCP process.
Changes to the UFSAR require review in accordance with 10 CFR 50.59 to determine if those
changes require prior NRC review and approval. Accordingly, Byron included with the UFSAR
change package a 10 CFR 50.59 screening, which determined that the UFSAR change was not
adverse and that a 10 CFR 50.59(d)(1) evaluation was not required. The NRC inspectors
disagreed with this conclusion and issued the violation described above based on their
determination that a 10 CFR 50.59(d)(1) written evaluation for this UFSAR change was
required.
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EGC Review of NRC Inspection Report

The NBC's fundamental premise for issuing this violation is provided in the Description section
of the Inspection Report:
"Even though the SFCP allows licensees to change their Technical Specification
surveillance frequencies, licensees are still required to process UFSAR changes per the
50.59 process. Therefore, completion of the STI evaluation does not preclude the need
to perform a 50.59 review.... The licensee should have performed a 10 CFR 50.59
evaluation to determine if the change would have resulted in a more than minimal
increase in the likelihood of occurrence of a malfunction of an SSC important to safety."

This statement contends that duplicative evaluations are required and necessary. The NBC's
position is that the TS surveillance frequency can be changed by the licensee per the SFCP
process, but updating the UFSAR to be consistent with the changed TS requires a 10 CFR
50.59 evaluation. This logic is circular.
The violation fails to address or consider 10 CFR 50.59(c)(4), which was discussed with the
inspectors on at least two separate occasions during the inspection. This provision states that
the requirements of Section 50.59 "do not apply to changes to the facility or procedures when
the applicable regulations establish more specific criteria for accomplishing such changes."
Here, TS 5.5.19 provides the more specific governing change process referenced in 10 CFR
50.59(c)(4). Thus, by following the regulatory requirement of TS 5.5.19 and applying the
change criteria of NEI 04-10, the performance of the STI evaluation precludes the need to
perform a 10 CFR 50.59 review. In this case, not applying 10 CFR 50.59 prevents duplicative
reviews, while still maintaining change control requirements.
Furthermore, the NEI 04-10 process applies more specific criteria than 10 CFR 50.59 to
evaluate the change and determine if it is safe. When this is the case, section 50.59 criterion of
"more than a minimal increase" is not the applicable standard.
Finally, the NRC's position is inconsistent with the Principles of Good Regulation, namely,
efficiency and reliability. Upholding the violation would result in redundant reviews of the same
underlying change, unnecessarily consuming licensee and NRC resources. Moreover,
conducting two reviews of the same change could yield inconsistent results in terms of
associated licensee actions. The potential for additional actions under 10 CFR 50.59 runs
contrary to the NRC's reliability principle, and would disrupt the stability provided through the
NRC's approval of the SFCP.
EGC Basis for Denial

The information below supports the position that UFSAR changes associated with approved
SFCP surveillance frequency changes are not subject to 10 CFR 50.59(d)(1) evaluations
because they instead satisfy 10 CFR 50.59(c)(4) for evaluation under more specific criteria.
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Fundamentally, EGC's position is that since the STI change is based on an NRC-approved,
regulatory-required technical evaluation method (i.e., SFCP), a subsequent application of 10
CFR 50.59 simply to make the corollary change to update the UFSAR is redundant and serves
no safety or regulatory purpose. This is particularly the case when the UFSAR information
being updated is part of the SFCP evaluation. Indeed, section 50.59(c)(4) was intended to
avoid such duplicative reviews by explicitly stating that more specific change control processes
should govern. As described below, the NRC has previously approved Byron's ability to make
these changes in accordance with TS without prior NRC approval.
NRC Approved SFCP Process
NEI 04-10 provides a risk-informed methodology to identify, assess, implement, and monitor
changes to frequencies of TS Surveillance Requirements. In 2006, the NRC approved NEI 0410, Revision 0, "Risk-Informed Technical Specifications Initiative 513, Risk-Informed Method for
Control of Surveillance Frequencies." As stated in the associated NRC Safety Evaluation, the
intent of this initiative is "...to maintain and improve safety through the incorporation of risk
assessment and management techniques in TSs, while reducing unnecessary burden and
making TS requirements consistent with the NBC's other risk-informed regulatory
requirements."
The NRC Safety Evaluation describes how the NEI 04-10 methodology allows a licensee to alter
TS STIs "to a frequency different from those recommended in previously-approved consensus
standards and RG process" without prior NRC approval. The NEI 04-10 SFCP process has
been evaluated by the NRC as it relates to maintaining sufficient safety margin and considers
how STIs relate to a licensee's current licensing basis (CLB) regarding industry codes,
standards, and NRC regulatory guides. Specifically, the NRC Safety Evaluation noted the NEI
04-10 SFCP process provides technical justification for changes to surveillance intervals found
in a licensee's CLB industry standards and that the "NRC staff finds this acceptable due to the
rigorous review and documentation required to justify an STI change related to an industry code
or standard."
NBC's review of the NEI 04-10 SFCP process was rigorous and comprehensive, and ensured
that all aspects of an existing STI were evaluated and considered. The Safety Evaluation
concluded that the industry methodology contained in NEI 04-10 provides adequate guidance
for proposed changes and that the methodology was acceptable.
SFCP Process Invoked by TSs
The NRC staff concluded the NEI 04-10 SFCP methodology would support a change to a
licensee's TSs by relocating surveillance frequencies to a licensee-controlled document,
allowing those frequencies to be revised in accordance with NEI 04-10 once incorporated in the
Administrative Controls section of TSs'. Licensees incorporate the NEI 04-10 SFCP process
' 10 CFR 50.36 establishes the regulatory requirements related to the content of TSs. The 10
CFR 50.36 requirements define five specific categories related to plant operation including (1)
surveillance requirements and (2) administrative controls.
3
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into the Administrative Controls section of their TSs via the 10 CFR 50.90 license amendment
process. Once approved by the NRC, the TS-required NEI 04-10 SFCP becomes a regulatory
requirement and the governing change process for TS related systems, structures, and
components (SSC) surveillance frequencies.
CLB Changes Related to the TS SFCP
The TS and TS Bases are not stand-alone documents, as TS SSCs are described in other parts
of the CLB (e.g., UFSAR). In most instances, the TS Bases will reference the specific UFSAR
sections and applicable industry codes / standards that detail the design, operation, and testing
of an associated SSC. The UFSAR may document a specific SSC's surveillance frequency or
describe a commitment to or compliance with an industry code / standard or NRC RG that
provides a specified or recommended surveillance frequency2. Because TS requirements are
inextricably linked to the rest of the CLB, the NEI 04-10 SFCP methodology evaluates all
aspects of the CLB, including the UFSAR and industry codes / standards insights and
compliance. These are the same considerations that would be evaluated under a 10 CFR 50.59
review.3
Therefore, following successful completion of an NEI 04-10 SFCP evaluation to change the
frequency of a TS SSC's Surveillance Requirement, the remainder of the CLB should be
updated accordingly. The UFSAR may require updating to clarify the method by which the
surveillance frequency is determined and controlled (i.e., the frequency is determined via the
TS-invoked and NRC-approved NEI 04-10 SFCP process, as opposed to a specified or
recommended frequency delineated in an industry code / standard or NRC RG).
10 CFR 50.59 Review

Changes to the UFSAR require review in accordance with 10 CFR 50.59 to determine if the
change to the UFSAR-described facility or procedures requires NRC review and approval prior
to implementation. Guidance for evaluating a change under 10 CFR 50.59 is provided in NEI
96-07, Revision 1, "Guidelines for 10 CFR 50.59 Evaluations." NEI 96-07, Revision 1 has been
endorsed by the NRC in Regulatory Guide 1.187 as a method acceptable to the NRC staff for
complying with 10 CFR 50.59.
NEI 96-07 states that after determining that a proposed activity is safe and effective through the
appropriate engineering and technical evaluations (i.e., in this case the NEI 04-10 SFCP
process), the 10 CFR 50.59 process is applied with the following steps:
• Applicability and Screening to determine if a 10 CFR 50.59(d)(1) evaluation is required,
• Evaluation to apply the eight criteria of 10 CFR 50.59(c)(2) to determine if a license
amendment must be obtained from the NRC.
This same information is reviewed and considered as part of the comprehensive NEI 04-10
SFCP evaluation.
3 In other words, the SFCP evaluation considers all of the same issues that would be reviewed
under 10 CFR 50.59, and then some.
2
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The first step in evaluating a UFSAR change is to determine if the activity is subject to the
requirements of 10 CFR 50.59; if so, then the licensee must determine if a 10 CFR 50.59
screening or evaluation are required.
10 CFR 50.59(c)(4) specifically excludes some activities from the scope of 10 CFR 50.59:
"The provisions in this section do not apply to changes to the facility or procedures when the
applicable regulations establish more specific criteria for accomplishing such changes."

The NRC Statements of Consideration (SOC) for 10 CFR 50.59 note the potential for confusion
as to which change mechanism applies when the UFSAR contains information "where other
requirements and criteria have been established by regulation for controlling these changes.114
The SOC section on "Changes Governed by Other Regulatory Processes" discusses Section
50.59(c)(4) further, specifically stating:
"The 50.59 obligation can only be replaced in situations in which other rule requirements
specify the governing change process, in order to prevent duplication of reviews, not as a
means of avoiding change control requirements.'

By applying the TS 5.5.19 invoked SFCP as the change control process used to evaluate the
STI change, EGC is applying a regulatory required change control process, not avoiding one.
Therefore, the intent of the 10 CFR 50.59(c)(4) provision as discussed in the SOC is met.
NEI 96-07, Section 4.1.1, "Applicability to Licensee Activities," also clarifies the meaning of 10
CFR 50.59(c)(4).
"To reduce duplication of effort, 10 CFR 50.59(c)(4) specifically excludes from the scope of
10 CFR 50.59 changes to the facility or procedures that are controlled by other more
specific requirements and criteria established by regulation."
"Activities controlled and implemented under other regulations may require related
information in the UFSAR to be updated. To the extent the UFSAR changes are directly
related to the activity implemented via another regulation, applying 10 CFR 50.59 is not
required."

This section of NEI 96-07 describes change control requirements that meet the intent of 10 CFR
50.59(c)(4) and may take precedence over 10 CFR 50.59 for control of a specific change.
Although section 50.59(c)(4) states that the more specific change criteria are established in
applicable "regulations," the SOC and NEI 96-07 make clear that the specific change criteria
and process need not be directly specified in a regulation per se. Instead, the change criteria
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and process must be a regulatory requirement, specified in an NRC regulation or other legallybinding NRC requirement. In the case of the SFCP, the specific change criteria and process
are established in regulatory-required TSs`'.
The SOC and NEI 96-07 both put forth as an example of 50.59(c)(4) the standard Fire
Protection license condition, which allows licensees to evaluate and implement changes to the
approved Fire Protection programs without prior NRC approval provided the changes were
evaluated against the Fire Protection program change provisions'. The Fire Protection program
documents and analyses are incorporated in the UFSAR directly or by reference.
Specifically, NEI 96-07, Section 4.1.5, "Changes to Approved Fire Protection Programs,'' states:
"10 CFR 50.59(c)(4) provides that when applicable regulations establish more specific
criteria for controlling certain changes, 10 CFR 50.59 does not also apply. Consistent with
this intent, the standard fire protection license condition establishes specific criteria for
control of fire protection changes and falls within the scope of 10 CFR 50.59(c)(4). Thus,
applying 10 CFR 50.59 to fire protection program changes is not required. "

NEI 96-07 further states that determinations made under the Fire Protection license condition
should be based on a written evaluation that provides the basis for the conclusion that the
change does not adversely affect ability of the Fire Protection system. The Fire Protection
change criteria and process are not explicitly set forth in any NRC "regulation." Instead, the
change criteria and process are contained in an NRC-required Operating Licensing Condition.
By relying on the Fire Protection License Condition as an example, the NRC has made clear
that section 50.59(c)(4) applies whenever a more specific change criteria is established through
a legally-binding NRC requirement, regardless of whether that requirement is directly set forth in
an NRC "regulation."
This same approach applies to another part of the operating license — the Technical
Specifications. The TSs, including the Surveillance Requirements and Administrative Controls,
are legally-binding requirements established by regulation in 10 CFR 50.36. The TS
Administrative Controls invoke the NEI 04-10 SFCP as a specific requirement and criteria for
the activity of controlling surveillance frequencies. Because the TSs provide regulatory-required
specific criteria for controlling and changing surveillance test intervals, the corresponding
UFSAR changes are excluded from 10 CFR 50.59.8

The TSs themselves are required by 10 CFR 50.36, and as discussed above, the SFCP was
incorporated into the TSs via 10 CFR 50.90.
The SOC for Section 50.59(c)(4) as also discusses other processes controlled through TS
(e.g., Core Operating Limits Report and Offsite Dose Calculation Manual).
8 This approach is also consistent with the intent of 10 CFR 50.59(c)(4) to reduce the duplication
of effort (i.e., not re-evaluate a change that is justified by another NRC-approved process).
6
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Conclusion
When updating the UFSAR to make corresponding changes associated with surveillance test
intervals established per the TS 5.5.19 SFCP process, 10 CFR 50.59(c)(4) applies and a 10
CFR 50.59 screening and evaluation are not required. The NEI 04-10 SFCP process, as
approved in the TS, is the governing process for evaluating and implementing activities related
to surveillance test intervals and for corresponding changes documented in the CLB.
There is no compartmentalization of surveillance frequency requirements — the TS surveillance
requirements are based on the same technical information and industry codes / standards as
those documented in the UFSAR. Requiring a licensee to re-evaluate the surveillance
frequency change per a 10 CFR 50.59 evaluation is duplicative, unnecessary, and inconsistent
with section 50.59(c)(4); especially considering the requirements of the UFSAR were part of the
SFCP evaluation. Moreover, requiring a 10 CFR 50.59 evaluation would effectively nullify the
efficiency and predictability achieved through NEI 04-10, contrary to the NBC's Principles of
Good Regulation.
Based on the above, EGC has determined that a 10 CFR 50.59(d)(1) evaluation is not required
because the associated change to the UFSAR satisfies 10 CFR 50.59(c)(4). TS 5.5.19 and the
associated NEI 04-10 SFCP process governs in this case, consistent with NRC guidance and
regulatory intent. Therefore, EGC concludes that the violation is not supported, and should be
retracted.

Letter from R. C. Daley (U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission) to B. C. Hanson (Exelon
Generation Company, LLC), "Byron Station, Units 1 and 2 - Evaluation of Changes,
Tests, and Experiments Baseline Inspection Report 05000454/2017009,
05000455/2017009," dated June 29, 2017 (ML17180A534)
2. NEI 04-10, "Risk-Informed Technical Specifications Initiative 5B, Risk-Informed Method
for Control of Surveillance Frequencies," Revision 1, April 2007 (ML071360462)
3. Letter from H. Hieh (NRC) to T. Pietrangelo (NEI), "Final Safety Evaluation for Nuclear
Energy Institute (NEI) Industry Guidance Document NEI 04-10, Revision 0, `RiskInformed Technical Specifications Initiative 5B, Risk-Informed Method for Control of
Surveillance Frequencies,"' dated September 28, 2006 (ML062700012)
4. Letter from H. Hieh (NRC) to B. Bradley (NEI), "Final Safety Evaluation for Nuclear
Energy Institute (NEI) Topical Report (TR) NEI 04-10, Revision 1, `Risk-Informed
Technical Specification Initiative 5B, Risk-Informed Method for Control of Surveillance
Frequencies,"' dated September 19, 2007 (ML072570267)

7

ATTACHMENT
Basis for Denial of NCV 050004542017009-01;050004552017009-01, Failure to Perform 10
CFR 50.59 Evaluation for UFSAR Change

5. Nuclear Energy Institute NEI 96-07, "Guidelines for 10 CFR 50.59 Evaluations," Revision
1, dated November 2000 (ML003771157)
6. U.S. NRC Regulatory Guide 1.187, "Guidance for Implementation of 10 CFR 50.59,
Changes, Tests, and Experiments," dated November 2000 (ML003759710)
7. Volume 64, Federal Register, Page 53588 (64FR53588), dated October 4, 1999

X
6

